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Leander T. Stuart sat down one day in 1850 to write afriend
In Indiana. Stuart owned “eighty acres of Prairie and forty of
timber,” but his land held even more promise.”! have a bank
of stone ware clay on my land the best | have ever seen. | have
a kiln that you would say was first rate” He continued, “In
May, June & July | burnt five thousand gal. of stone ware which
| sold at the kiln at 7 cents per gallon cash. | will burn four
or five thousand gallon more between this and cold weather
and then | will have to stop until the latter part of April.”

Blessed with abundant beds of clay, lowans developed a
thriving pottery industry in the 19th century. Leander Stuart,
like all potters, knew that when fired to maturity, clay be-
comes extremely durable, harder than many metals. It under-
goes an irreversible transformation and assumes a new utility,
beauty, and value.

Most of lowa’s potteries were small enterprises that pro-
duced about a dozen kinds of vessels— pitchers, churns, pre-
serve jars, butter pots, jugs, milk pans, cream pots, chamber
pots, and flower pots, as well as items made to order. Pottery
was the near universal container in 19th-century America.
For holding and storing food and liquids, there were few oth-

er options.

hg Michael O Smith
Photography hg John Zeller
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owa potteries were concentrated where
Ideposits of clay and coal (for kiln fuel) were
available, especially in the Des Moines Riv-
er valley or around Fort Dodge, Davenport,
Des Moines, and Sioux City.

The first step In stoneware production
was to mine and prepare the clay, described
In an 1869 lowa newspaper as “dirty work
and no more enticing to a dandy than coal
mining.The mines here are drifts or levels, be-
Ing entered by an opening on the side of the
bluffs. The clay Is not soft and pliable when
taken out, but Is a soft stone. It is ... soaked
about two days in water till it softens down
to a workable state. It is first ground by the
same process as brickmakers employ, then
it Is kneaded and ‘spanked’ by hand while all
Impurities are detected by skilled means and
picked out. The air Is also worked out by this
means, the same as the baker uses to get air
In. It Is then taken to the turner’s and mould-
ers’ wheels in balls weighed out in such sizes
as are necessary for the particular utensil
they are to form.”

Potters also prepared clay in pug mills.
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Clay and water in atank were mixed by pad-
dles attached to a center rotating post, which
was powered by a horse or a mule.

toneware decoration in 19th-century
S lowa was decidedly Germanic, with mo-

tifs that could be traced back hundreds
of years to the Westerwald region. Even lowa
potteries owned by non-Germans used vari-
ations of tulips, with vines, swags, swirls, dots,
X'’s, lines, and bands.

Cobalt oxide was the preferred colorant.
“Figures and tasteful flourishes Iin blue . ..
adorn much of pottery ware. These stripes
and designs are done by hand, each piece In
its own turn. The ‘bluer’ takes ajar on his lap,
and, holding a quill box,... makes by his eye
the outline of design. It Is a steady hand and
true eye that can scratch off rapidly and so
accurately these pictures, each being so near
like its fellow that one at first supposes a pat-
tern or stencil plate had been employed....
The blue marks soon dry on and are ‘fixed’
by the burning In the kiln.”



N6 FASTENAU

A four-gallon churn and a large pitcher bear Germanic motifs in cobalt on a salt glaze. The churn, circa 1870s, is marked " Ce-
dar Falls lowa” near the rim. The pitcher was made by Smith Kelsey, Des Moines, in 1863. Pitchers were challenging to produce

because the spout had to be lined up with the handle for an even pour. Because of daily use, most pitchers eventually broke and
were discarded. Relatively few from the 19th century have survived.
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iring the kiln was the most exciting part
Fof stoneware manufacturing, and also

the riskiest. A good firing resulted In
profit, a bad firing in wasted labor, clay, and
fuel.

The first step was to "set the kiln," placing
the pieces perfectly perpendicular so they
would not fall or warp, and evenly spaced so
that vaporized salt would circulate uniformly
for the glaze.

Most lowa potters traditionally fueled
kilns with wood until the 1880s, when many
switched to coal, which is generally found In
the same areas as beds of clay.
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For the first 12 hours, the kiln was kept
at 200 degrees to allow moisture to escape,

More fuel was added to the fireboxes to In-
crease the temperature to the desired 2,300
degrees. Especially large kilns (some as high
as 36 feet) might need several days to reach
that temperature. Small pieces of clay sus-
pended by wire into the kiln were pulled out
to determine Iif the fuel needed to be redis-
tributed for an even flow of heat.

After three days of cooling, the pottery

was removed and inspected.

Above:CaMn Brinton ond chMren hold flowerpots by O down.

draft kiln at Maxwell Clay Products, Turkey River, circa 1916.




Iive-gallon butter churns,

like this one, were the

most common size of
churns, although some were
twice as large.

Stoneware must be glazed
to be impervious. Until the
mid-1880s, salt glaze was
commonly used. The tradi-
tion of salt-glazed pottery In
lowa can be traced back to
New England and the Mid-
Atlantic states, and dates
back to the 14th century In
Europe.

To create a salt glaze,
the potter threw rock salt
through side portholes In
the kiln, where it vaporized
and reacted with the silica
In the clay. The result was a
glassy surface, with atexture
like that of an orange peel.

Albany slip became a pop-
ular glaze in the 1880s. Dark
brown clay was mixed with
water to the consistency of
fresh cream and then applied.
Albany slip was often used
on the inside of stoneware
(as it was on this churn) be-
cause the surface was easier
to clean than a salt-glazed
surface.

COLLECTION OF MARK AND KATHIE CELLOTTI

Most lowa stoneware was not decorated, so this peacock “scratch" design in cobalt
Is particularly unusual. Scratch designs were either scratched directly on the clay or
through a slip glaze before firing.This churn was made by Montpelier Pottery in Mus-

catine County, circa 1890. The exterior is salt glazed; the interior, with Albany slip.
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esides churns, jugs, jars,

and pitchers, potteries

made garden products,
such as flowerpots and hang-
Ing baskets. Colesburg Pottery
Company in Colesburg special-
ized In flowerpots beginning
IN the 1880s (left). To meet
a growing demand, the com-
pany Installed steam-powered
molding machines, and by 1905,
It was producing 10,000 flow-
erpots a day and doing busi-
ness in more than 16 states.
But the Colesburg pots had
to be transported by wagon
over eight miles of hilly dirt
roads to the nearest railroad,
In Osterdock. Partly because
of such transportation prob-
lems, the plant closed in 1916.

Opposite: The molded letters on this
Stich Bros, flowerpot may have been
added to advertise the business, which
operated in Livermore. The flowerpot
with the shiny brown Albany slip was
made at Whites Pottery Works in Fort
Dodge (1882-1892). The blue-rimmed
pot is attributed to Fort Dodge Stone-
ware (1892-1906).
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E. U. SMITH, Manager

MANUFACTOKRLH OF

PHOTO: COLLECTION OF GEORGE GOELDNER PITCHER AND BUSINESS CARD COLLECTION OF DWIGHT MILLER T’\OUirr ’\Ols_ 1)aiiniur\ BaSkrls anb VnSCS.
~ PLAIN AND FANCY, ™
Harrison and Seventh St IDINYEKPOETOI9ITA

ne number of lowa potteries
T peaked In the 1880s, from 17

Isted In the 1865 state gazet-
teer, to 34 In 1885. What had begun
as a traditional craft evolved Iinto a
mechanized, technologically complex
Industry with full-time, specialized
workers.

One of the more specialized manu-
facturers was the Davenport Pottery
Company, established in 1880 by a di-
verse group of investors. Its cluster of
buildings and two beehive kilns were
located near several Dbrickyards In
downtown Davenport. The mottled
brown pitcher (left) IS one example of
its work.

The company cast a wide net for
workers, contacting potters In the
Midwest, the East, and England. By
1888 It had failed, perhaps because of
growing competition from Ohio and
eastern potteries.
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auck & Son pottery,

founded In 1880 in

Boone County, may
have marked this jug with the
the company name, location,
and date to commemorate Iits
first firing. Jugs were one of
the commonest forms of pot-
tey and were seldom deco-
rated, although this one bears
straight and wavy lines. Fin-
gerprints at the bottom reveal
where the potter held the jug
as it was dipped In glaze.

Jugs were used to hold tox-
ic liquids like kerosene, turpen-
tine, and acid, as well as cider,
wine, water, vinegar, and oills.

COLLECTION O f GEORGE GOELDNER
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kiln was an accident waiting to happen. In 1837 William

Welch’s Van Buren County pottery burned down be-
fore his first kiln load was even fired. In 1857, David Roberts
lost his first pottery In Colesburg to flame.The Des Moines
Pottery burned twice, in 1873 and 1882. County histories
record many more.

The most destructive fire in an lowa pottery took place
on the night of December 17, 1906, at the main plant of the
former Fort Dodge Stoneware Company. Founded in 1870
by Martin White, the Fort Dodge Stoneware Company be-
came lowa’s largest producer of stoneware. In April 1906 it
was purchased by the Western Stoneware Company and des-
ignated as Plant 7. Based In lllinois, Western Stoneware was a
conglomerate of potteries trying to compete with the mam-
moth Red Wing Stoneware in Red Wing, Minnesota. West-
ern Stoneware operated its Plant 7 in Fort Dodge only six
months before It was destroyed by fire.

Fire was a continuing threat to potteries. A blazing hot
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The name “Plant /" in the stenciled maple-leaf logo confirms that this five-gallon
churn was made in Fort Dodge in 1906, when Western Stoneware operated there. Its
shiny white Bristol glaze was made by mixing feldspar, whiting, zinc oxide, kaolin, and
flint By the turn of the century Bristol glaze had replaced Albany slip as the most
common glaze. Because it was opagque and shiny white, it appeared more sanitary,

at a time when sanitation was both a health reform issue and a marketing tool.
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till throwing pots at age 79, Johnnie

Nelson (right) grew up In Red Wing,

Minnesota, and at the age of 13 be-
gan working in the Red Wing plants. In
1912 he moved to lowa to work at the
newly founded What Cheer Clay Prod-
ucts iIn What Cheer, in Keokuk County.
The town lay In lowa’s coal-mining re-
gion, with rich beds of clay 15 to 60 feet
deep.

After five years, Nelson and his sons
began their own pottery (below). The
sons focused on drain tile, fire brick, and
building blocks, but Nelson was drawn
to more fanciful creations—giant toad-
stools and bird baths; large urns and
fountain figures; imitation fruits, vegeta-
bles, and nuts; flowerpots and vases of all
sizes, and replicas of Mexican and Sicilian
water jugs. Customers bought his lawn
and garden art for their rock gardens
and goldfish and lily ponds.

Left Using a simple day
sewer pipe, W hat Cheer
potter Johnnie Nelson
created this decorative
umbrella stand for Drs.
Tarana and Albert Dulin,
who practiced in nearby
Sigourney. Nelson made
the storks from a mold
he brought with him
from Red Wing Pottery
iIn Minnesota, where he

had worked as a young

man.

BOTH PHOTOS WHAT CHEER— 100 YEARS (1965)
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ommemorative, novel-

ty, and souvenir stone-

ware, like these ex-
amples, occupied only a very
small part of the pottery mar-
ket. By the early 1900s, utili-
tarian stoneware production
was In steep decline. Glass
containers, especially canning
jars, were more sanitary, light-
er weight, and less costly than
pottery. Preserving meat and
vegetables with salt in stone-
ware was gradually replaced
by shipping fresh food In re-
frigerated railroad cars and
keeping It cold In household
Ice-boxes.

The 1903 Directory of
Cloy Workers in lowa listed
303 ceramics manufacturers;
only six of these produced
pottery. All the others made
sewer pipe, tile bricks, and
drainage tile.

COLLECTION OF LOWELL ANO CORRINE REED
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COLLECTION OF TOM SOUTHARD

COLLECTION OF GEORGE GOELDNER

COLLECTION OF LOWELL AND CORRINE REED

COLLECTION OF LOWELL AND CORRINE REED

Clockwise, from top left: Found in the ground near an old El-
dora hotel, this unusual clay object was probably made for a
smoker. Perhaps matches were stored in the short corncobs and
struck on the rough half-circle surface. The mug commemorates
the lowa Democratic Convention, on July 27, 1910. Made by Ot-
tumwa Clay Products, it has a stenciled donkey on the back and
an unusually ornate handle. The miniature jug was made by Fort
Dodge Stoneware and marks a national convention.What Cheer
potter Johnnie Nelson made the miniature canteen, as well as

600 miniature lions (left) for the Sigourney Lions Club.



he American art pottery movement

gained a brief foothold In lowa In the

1920s, thanks to two ceramacists at
lowa State College, Paul E Cox and Mary La-
nier Yancey. Cox and Yancey were from New-
comb College, where women were taught
both the aesthetics and the marketability of
art pottery. Likewise, Cox and Yancey labored
to convince lowans that the states rich de-
posits of clay had other uses than drainage
tile and sewer pipe, and that art pottery had
commercial possibilities.

Besides the lowa State program, only a
few art potteries existed in lowa early in the
20th century: Shawsheen Pottery in Mason
City; Farr Pottery, Oskaloosa; Artclay Com-
pany, Scranton; and, in Corning, a pottery of
varying names (Spring Lake, Turner Pottery,
and Corning Pottery).

SUGAR BO.VL COLLECTION OF GEORGE GOELDNER TEAPOT COLLECTION OF MUSCATINE ART CENTER WATCH HOLDER COLLECTION OF MARK AND HARIE LATTA

Above:This multicolored vase with a matt glaze
represents the work of Charles L. and John At
Farr at Farr Pottery in Oskaloosa (1907-1915).
Left A trio of lowa art pottery examples. The
teapot is by Shawsheen Pottery. Trained at the
Chicago Art Institute and the New York Art Stu-
dents League, Edward and Elizabeth Dahlquist
established Shawsheen Pottery in Mason City
iIn 1907. The other two objects are by Artclay
Company, in Scranton. Ed Sayre and EarlAdams
started Artclay in 1929, with help from Paul Cox
at lowa State College. They created vases, lamp
bases, and other items. The object in the fore-
ground may have held a watch, in the hollowed-

out center.

Michael O. Smith Is chief curator at the State
Historical Society of lone. Jamn Zeller is a pho-
tographer amt ahistorical researcher.

For the complete story of lowa pottery and dozens of examples, visit the new exhibit

“Made from Mud: lowa Potters and Potteries, 1830-1930,” September 13, 2008-April

12, 2009, at the State Historical Building in Des Moines. Check www.lowaHistory.org.
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